RECEIVED

12-17-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP000637 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL DENGSAVANG,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A JUDGMENT
OF CONVICTION AND A DENIAL OF
A MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION
RELIEF IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE
REBECCA DALLET AND STEPHANIE
ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING, RESPECTIVELY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, MICHAEL DENGSAVANG

Alderman Law Firm
Kimberly Alderman-Penix
State Bar #1081138
Post Office Box 2001
Madison, WI 53701
(608) 620-3529
kimberly@aldermanlawfirm.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was trial counsel ineffective for opening the door to double hearsay testimony on the excluded shoeprint report and failing expose exculpatory discrepancies in descriptions of the shooter?

In the post-conviction context, the Circuit Court presumed trial counsel had a strategy for opening the door to the excluded shoeprint evidence, even though trial counsel did not recall such a strategy. The court never addressed whether trial counsel should have objected on evidentiary grounds or drawn attention to exculpatory descriptions of the shooter.

2. Did the Circuit Court err when it limited the scope of questioning at the *Machner* hearing, refusing to permit trial counsel testimony on legitimate and still-outstanding arguments alleging ineffective assistance?

The Circuit Court found it was only required to permit testimony on the issue noted in the Court of Appeals' April 29, 2014, first remand order – trial counsel's strategy for opening the door to testimony on the contents of the shoeprint report – despite the fact that the limiting language was removed via the Court of Appeals' May 23, 2014, erratum order on reconsideration.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Dengsavang welcomes oral argument to clarify any questions this Court may have. Publication is not warranted since the case can be decided on existing precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a jury trial, the Hon. Judge Dallet presiding, Michael Dengsavang was convicted of one count of "1st Degree Intentional Homicide" in violation of Wis. Stat. §940.01(1)(a), one count of "Armed Robbery with Use of Force" in violation of Wis. Stat. §943.32(1)(a), and one count of "Burglary-Building or Dwelling" in violation of Wis. Stat. §943.10(1m)(a). (R. 71 at 6:5-16.) The Complaint and evidence at trial tended to show that, in one evening, a Happy Wok restaurant and its owners' residential apartment were robbed, and a police officer was shot. (R. 3:3-4; R. 63:35-40.) Dengsavang's defense was that police found him in the wrong place at the wrong time, and he was not involved in any of the crimes. (R. 63 at 46:21-47:1.)

Six days before trial, the State produced an expert report that analyzed digital images of various shoeprints found in the snow near the three crime scenes. (R. 61 at 6:3-13 (shoeprint report provided to defense on June 1, 2010); R. 62 (trial began on June 7, 2010); R. 47 at Exh. D (expert report).) The circumstances surrounding the admission at trial of this report and its findings are at issue on appeal.

The State presented three principal pieces of evidence at trial: (1) pictures of shoeprints in the snow that the State argued connected him to the three crime scenes; (2) the testimony of several witnesses, none of whom identified Dengsavang as the perpetrator of a crime; and (3) DNA evidence on a winter mask and gloves found near where Dengsavang was arrested. (R. 70 at 44-45 (as to shoeprints); *Id.* at 38-40 and 44:4-12, (as to witness testimony), *Id.* at 46:4-13 (as to DNA evidence).)

I. Overview of evidence and the crime

On December 13, 2009, and in the early morning hours of December 14, 2009, three separate incidents occurred. (R. 3 at ¶1-4.) First, two armed and masked men robbed a Happy Wok at 2332 North 124th Street, Wauwatosa, Milwaukee County, around 10:15 p.m. (*Id.* at ¶1-2.) Second, at approximately 10:35 p.m., two armed and masked men robbed the restaurant owners' residential apartment, approximately .35 miles from the Happy Wok. (*Id.* at ¶3.) Third, a masked man shot a police officer through the window of her squad car in the apartment's parking lot between 10:38 p.m. and 10:42 p.m. (R. 66 at 51-53.)

After the shooting, police officers found Dengsavang under a tree across the street from the apartment complex. (R. 63 at 41:11-16.) Detective Daniel Collins testified that he and other officers found several pairs of gloves, winter masks, and hats in the snow between the location where the apartment robbery and shooting took place and the location where Dengsavang was found. (R. 68 at 34:20-21, 36-37.) Dengsavang's DNA was only found on two black gloves and a winter mask that were found near where Dengsavang was arrested. (R. 47 at Exh. A:3-5.)

At trial, the State alleged that Michael Dengsavang, along with codefendants Paul Phonisay and Thongsavahn Rodthong, worked together to commit the three crimes. (See, e.g. R. 63 at 45:12-14.) The State connected Dengsavang to the Happy Wok robbery based on shoeprints observed outside of the back of the Happy Wok that "seem[] to match to the naked eye" the soles of Dengsavang's Nike Air sneakers. (Id. at 43:7-18.) The State connected Dengsavang to the apartment robbery based on a statement by C.D., the son of the Happy Wok owners who was at the apartment when the robbery

occurred, that one of the men who entered the apartment was wearing red shoes. (*Id.* at 41:3-10.) On arrest, Dengsavang was wearing red and black Nike Air sneakers. (R. 66 at 8:12-15.)

Dengsavang argued that the police arrested the wrong man; he was simply in the wrong place at the wrong time. (R. 63 at 46:25, 47:1.) Counsel noted that no one identified Dengsavang as the perpetrator of any of these crimes. (*Id.* at 47:16-21.)

There was also notable exculpatory evidence that tended to show Dengsavang was not responsible for any of the three crimes. First, he was specifically excluded as a possible source of the DNA on the gun that shot A.P. (R. 47 at Ex. A:5.) Further, Happy Wok owner Y.D. testified that the men who robbed the Happy Wok were speaking Spanish; Dengsavang does not speak Spanish. (R. 63 at 81:2-4 (Y.D.'s testimony); R. 47 at Ex. C:¶6 (Dengsavang's assertion that he does not speak Spanish.) Y.D.'s wife X.Z. testified that she knew Dengsavang because he was a frequent customer of the Happy Wok. (R. 64 at 23:4-7.) She further testified that she did not recognize Dengsavang visually as one of the armed men in the Happy Wok and that neither of the armed men in the Happy Wok sounded, vocally, like Dengsavang. (Id. at 23:16-19 (failure to identify Dengsavang visually); 22:20-23 (failure to identify Dengsavang vocally.) All of this was presented at trial but not clearly argued to the jury.

Further, not a single description of the shooter offered at the trial matched Dengsavang's physical description at the time of the shooting. (R. 66 at 36:10-20 (victim A.P.'s description of the two suspects at trial); R. 47 at Exh. B (victim A.P.'s initial description of the suspect); *Id.* at Exh. G (Dengsavang's physical description), *Id.* at Exh. H (description of Dengsavang's clothing at the time of

his arrest.) In total, A.P. offered three suspect descriptions: (1) the original recording wherein a police officer conveyed A.P.'s description of the shooter to dispatch, stating that the shooter was a "black male, five eight, or unknown race, all black clothing, hood up, five foot eight, thin," (2) A.P.'s description of the first of two suspects she saw before being shot, who was "wearing all black, and black pants, a black hooded sweatshirt," and (3) A.P.'s description of the second of two suspects she saw before being shot, who was wearing "dark pants, [with] a white or light-colored hooded sweatshirt, and it had some sort of dark or black-colored design throughout it." (R. 47 at Exh. B (A.P.'s description of the shooter to dispatch); R. 66 at 36:10-20 (A.P.'s description of both suspects at trial.)

In contrast to these descriptions, Dengsavang is a 5'10" Asian man who weighed approximately 180 pounds at the time of the incident. (R. 47 at Exh. C (as to height), G (as to weight.) Additionally, at the time he was arrested, Dengsavang was wearing red and black Nike Air sneakers, blue jeans, and a black hooded sweatshirt underneath a black down coat. (*Id.* at Exh. H.) Therefore, Dengsavang's actual physical description and clothing do not match any of the suspect descriptions offered by A.P.

Despite this exculpatory evidence, and a lack of solid incriminating evidence, the jury convicted Dengsavang of robbery, burglary, and homicide. This conviction was ostensibly based on shoeprint testimony, the majority of which was double-hearsay and the remainder of which was expert opinion presented by a lay witness.

II. Facts as to the shoeprint evidence

At a May 14, 2010, pre-trial hearing, the Circuit Court ordered that it would not allow any discovery past May 21, 2010. (R. 60 at 22:2-6.) The court ruled, "Absent something happening, next Friday [May 21, 2010 is the deadline] for all discovery to be turned over." (*Id.* at 22:9-11.)

On June 2, 2010, five days before trial, a hearing was held to discuss still-awaited discovery from the State. (R. 61 at 2:23-25, 3:1-2.) At this hearing, Attorney Daniel Rieck appeared for Michael Dengsavang, standing in for Dengsavang's trial counsel Robert D'Arruda. (*Id.* at 2:14-16.)

During the hearing, Attorney Anne Bowe, counsel for co-defendant Rodthong, informed the Circuit Court that, the day before, the State provided her with an expert shoeprint report dated May 26, 2010. (R. 61 at 6:10-13 (date of production), R. 47 at Exh. B (date of report).) The State had not moved the court to extend the discovery deadline before disclosing this report. (See generally R. 61.) At the hearing, the Circuit Court did not inquire on why the State failed to comply with the discovery deadline, then waited another week to disclose the report. (Id.)

The two-page shoeprint expert report at issue was prepared in the Milwaukee Crime Lab by footwear and tire track specialist Anthony R. Spadafora. (R. 47 at Exh. D.) Spadafora examined digital photographs of footwear impressions in the snow in public spaces near the three crime scenes, as well as 15 pairs of shoes that had been submitted to the Milwaukee Crime Lab for examination. (*Id.*) One pair of shoes examined, identified as "Item CO," was designated as

5

¹ Anthony Spadafora's report did not specify where the shoes came from, only that they were "submitted." (R. 47 at Exh. D.)

the pair worn by Dengsavang when he was arrested. (*Id.*) Concerning this pair, the report indicated as follows:

• "Three suitable footwear impressions observed on files 6202, 6373 and #1 walking could have been made by either of the four Left Nike Air Air Force 1 and Nike Air Jordan shoes of items CO, CV, CW and CZ based on similarity of tread patterns design, size and wear characteristics."

TRANSLATION: Two shoeprints in the snow near the apartment complex² and one shoeprint in the snow near the Happy Wok³ "could have been made" by the left shoe recovered from Dengsavang, or from three of the other left shoes collected as evidence.

 "Two suitable footwear impressions observed on files 6206 and 6351 could have been made by the either of the Right Nike Air Air Force 1 and Nike Air Jordan shoes of items CN, CO, CT, CV, CW, CX, CY AND CZ based on similarity of tread pattern design and wear."

² The shoeprint report lists the digital images by file name, however it does not indicate where the digital images were taken. To determine where the digital images were taken, undersigned counsel located images of shoeprints with the same file name within the electronic discovery file provided by the State. All digital images discussed herein were discovered in a State discovery file labeled, "By Det [sic] Hudson of Rob [sic] & Shooting Scenes," ostensibly taken near the Normandy Village Apartments, site of the robbery and shooting.

³ The full name of the digital image within the State's discovery that this image corresponds to is, "#1 walking to Happy Wok from sidewalk."

TRANSLATION: Two shoeprints in the snow near the apartment complex "could have been made" by the right shoe recovered from Dengsavang, or from seven of the other right shoes collected as evidence.

 "One suitable footwear impression observed in file 6347 could have been made by the Left Nike Air Air Force 1 and Nike Air Jordan shoes of items CN, CO, CV, CW, CX, CY and CZ based on similarity of tread pattern design and wear characteristics.

TRANSLATION: One shoeprint in the snow near the apartment complex "could have been made" by the left shoe recovered from Dengsavang, or from six of the other left shoes collected as evidence.

(R. 47 at Exh. D.) The State did not call Anthony Spadafora to testify at trial. (See generally, R. 62-71.)

At the hearing held on June 2, 2010, Attorney Bowe effectively argued that the State should not be able to present evidence of the expert shoeprint report on the grounds that the report was provided to defense eleven days after the May 21, 2010, deadline for evidentiary disclosures and a mere six days before trial. (R. 61 at 10:10-11.) Attorney Bowe argued it would be unfair for the State to present the expert shoeprint report at trial, because defendants did not have time to procure an expert to inform their interpretations of the report and effectively rebut the States' representations of it. (*Id.* at 6:5-13.) In her argument, Attorney Bowe stated:

If [the State is] going to use [the shoeprint report] I have a problem. I need to get an expert then because it is not—it's new information to me and it is information that arguably is susceptible to interpretations. I need to have the opportunity to strengthen my interpretation of that case.

(*Id.* at 5-10.) The Circuit Court agreed with Attorney Bowe, noting, "I think [each defendant] would have a right to [his] own expert to bolster [his] position which is that it's exculpatory." (*Id.* at 12:9-11.) The Circuit Court ruled that the State could only introduce the shoeprint report at trial if defense opened the door first:

. . . the experts –the opinion –the opinion -this four-page report and the person that offered it, that's all we're talking about here. There'll be all kinds of about shoes arguments and prints because that stuff you have, Miss Bowe. This is the only new thing which is this analysis by this expert. I'm going to order the State can't use it in its case in chief. If for some reason the defense put on somebody or questioned somebody who talks about analyzing shoes or says something to the effect of well, you could have analyzed them, why didn't you analyze them . . . those would be the kind of situations I will entertain an openingthe-door type issue . . .

(*Id.* at 10:4-17.) By virtue of this oral ruling, the State was not permitted to introduce evidence of the shoeprint report, unless trial counsel first opened the door by soliciting testimony related to analyzing the shoeprints. (*Id.*)

Attorney D'Arruda represented Dengsavang at trial. D'Arruda was not present at the June 2, 2010, hearing and, therefore, would have needed to be apprised of the court's ruling excluding evidence of the shoeprint report. (R. 61 at 2:14-16.) His performance at trial indicated that he was likely unaware of the Circuit Court's order pertaining to the shoeprint report. During his cross-examination of Detective Hudson, he asked, "Were you aware that impressions were sent to the crime lab or those photos and shoes were sent to the crime lab?" (R. 68 at 17:5-7.) After he concluded his questioning, the walked Detective Hudson through State interpretation of the findings of the shoeprint report. (Id. at 22-24.) During this questioning, the expert findings of the shoeprint report came in through Detective Hudson's testimony.

Williams: And the crime lab, as they're

scientists, right, they're not guys on the street, they're actual trained scientists?

Hudson: They're experts, correct.

Williams: And they said we cannot say

that these shoes made that

mark is that correct?

Hudson: Correct, without saying

similar size.

Williams: But what they did say is that

these shoes could have made

those marks, right?

Hudson: Correct.

(R. 68 at 22:24-25, 23:1-8.)

Williams: But they said that these

shoes could have made those

marks?

Hudson: They could have made those

marks.

(*Id.* at 23:25, 24:1-2.)

The State also questioned Detective Hudson concerning her personal opinion of whether the shoeprints found near the three crime scenes matched the shoes Dengsavang was wearing:

Williams: This [shoeprint] matched Exhibit No. 137, the shoes that Mr. Dengsavang was wearing?

Hudson: That's correct.

(R. 67 at 92:15-16.)

Williams: And [the] footprint⁴ appears to match footprints, or the consistency of the footprints that was found on the shoe of Mr. Dengsavang there; is that correct?

Hudson: That's correct

(*Id.* at 97:2-5.)

The State stressed the importance of the shoeprints

⁴ At various times during the trial, the parties refer to "footprints." No footprints were recovered during the investigation of this case. The word "footprints" appears to be a mis-speak, and Dengsavang reads the transcript as though the speaker used the term "shoeprints."

in its closing argument as follows:

The footprints are probably the key to the whole case, or part of the case. So there were distinctive footprints that were found at the restaurant. The ones with the circle. And you can see the circle, the two circles; one here and one there . . . these footprints are in the back. outside of the restaurant. These are also right outside of the Dong home. These same footprints . . . and then police the circle footprints. followed remember, Officer Hudson told you that the next time she saw the footprints were right around – right before the crossing of 124th Street. She [Detective Hudson] saw the circle footprints . . . and the footprints finally led to under a tree [where Dengsavang was seen and arrested, which was on the limit - outer limits of the Tomlin property.

(R. 70 at 44:16-25, 45:7-11, 22-24 emphasis supplied.)

III. Post-Conviction proceedings

On October 23, 2012, Dengsavang filed a motion for post-conviction discovery. (R. 38.) The motion pointed out that, although the State used a gunshot residue kit to swab Dengsavang's hands shortly after the shooting, the kit was never tested. (*Id.* at 1-2.) Dengsavang requested post-conviction discovery of the kit so he could have it independently tested. (*Id.* at 5.) In an order dated December 17, 2012, the Circuit Court denied Dengsavang's request, finding that "a negative kit would not be conclusive evidence of innocence." (R. 44 at 2.)

On April 17, 2013, Dengsavang timely filed a postconviction motion with the Circuit Court alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. (R. 47.) He argued that trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to object to Detective Hudson's improper testimony on the excluded shoeprint evidence and report, and failing to draw attention to the descriptions of the shooter offered at trial that all but excluded Dengsavang as a possible subject. (*Id.* at 1.)

In response to Dengsavang's argument that trial counsel failed to object to Detective Hudson's improper testimony on the excluded shoeprint evidence and report, the State argued:

The argument about the crime lab examining footprints was brought up by the defense. The State elicited on redirect questioning basically the same evidence defense counsel had opened the door to on cross examination.

(R. 51 at 20.) Dengsavang explained that, to the extent that the defense opened the door to allowing the State's presentation of the otherwise excluded shoeprint evidence, trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance. (R. 52 at 2.)

In an order dated June 24, 2013, the Circuit Court denied Dengsavang's post-conviction motion. (R. 53 at 5.) It adopted the State's view that trial counsel opened the door to allowing Detective Hudson to testify concerning the shoeprint evidence, explaining:

At a hearing on June 2, 2010, the court precluded the State from using its footwear expert or his report during its case-in-chief unless the defendant "opened the door" about the analysis of the shoes. This is exactly what happened

during the trial. The *defense* made first mention of the State Crime Lab findings during its cross-examination of Detective Hudson . . . It was only on redirect, *after the defense had opened the door to the issue*, that the State questioned Detective Hudson about the crime lab's findings . . . The defense opened the door to questioning about crime lab findings.

(Id. at 2-3) (citations omitted.) Nonetheless, the Circuit Court found that trial counsel's performance did not prejudice Dengsavang by opening the door to allow the admission of the testimony concerning the expert shoeprint report because, even if the testimony had not been permitted, "There is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different given the compelling circumstantial evidence of guilt." (Id. at 3.) The Circuit Court did not identify any of this "compelling circumstantial evidence of guilt." (Id.)

The Circuit Court did not schedule or hold a hearing on the issues before entering its June 24, 2013, order denying Dengsavang's claims. (R. 53 at 5.) Dengsavang appealed this order on October 7, 2013. (See Generally, Brief of Appellant, Oct. 7, 2013.) In an order dated April 29, 2014, the Court of Appeals remanded for a *Machner*⁵ Hearing. (R. 74 at ¶17.) The court concluded, "Speculation and theorizing – by either party – cannot substitute for testimony from Dengsavang's trial counsel at a *Machner* hearing." (*Id.*)

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