RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-08-2015**

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP637-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL S. DENGSAVANG,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DECISION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE REBECCA DALLET AND THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL

Attorney General SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

And in several respects the testimony aided the defense. There was nothing about the crime scene shoeprints that distinguished them from other Nike shoes of a similar model (68:16-19). Moreover, the information that D'Arruda elicited undermined the reliability of Detective Hudson's opinion that Dengsavang's soles appeared to match the crime scene shoeprints. *See* 67:88-89. The only thing that the State could salvage from the crime lab report was the point that Dengsavang's shoes could have made the crime scene shoeprints (68:22-23). As the circuit court stated at the final pretrial conference, the crime lab report did not appear to have much probative value for the State (61:11).

Second, given the dubious value that the report served, it is no surprise that the only discussion of information from the report appeared briefly during D'Arruda's cross-examination of Detective Hudson (68:17-19) and the State's redirect (68:22-25)—four pages in over 1000 pages of transcript taken over the five-and-a-half-day trial. The State never attempted to enter the report into evidence or present an analyst to discuss it. And neither party mentioned the report during closing argument.

To be sure, the State *did* introduce substantial evidence of the shoeprints found at the crime scenes and of how they compared to Dengsavang's shoes, but that evidence was not affected by the court's pretrial exclusion order.⁷ The court's order excluded only the shoeprint report, not testimony from officers who observed the shoeprints and noted their likeness to Dengsavang's soles (*see, e.g.,* 65:35-36; 67:88-90), not the photographs of the shoeprints and shoe soles (*see* 11 (listing dozens of exhibits)), and not the exhibits of Dengsavang's shoes themselves (*see* 11:7 (describing Exh. 137)). Hence, even if D'Arruda had not opened the door to the report, the jury still would have heard all of the other, stronger shoeprint evidence.

Which leads to the third point: this tepid crime lab report evidence had no impact on the verdict. Dengsavang's defense was that he was caught in the wrong place at the wrong time (63:46-47). But the State presented insurmountable evidence that Dengsavang committed all three crimes:

- The Happy Wok owners testified that two armed masked men entered through the front door of the restaurant, robbed them, and left through the back door (63:64-66, 69; 64:7). The robbers restrained the owners with duct tape, stole cash, threatened to kill the owners and their son, and took their apartment keys (63:64-65, 69, 71-72). After the robbers left, the owners freed themselves and called 911 (63:70).
- Police investigating the robbery observed two sets of shoeprints going into the front door of Happy Wok and the same two sets outside the rear of the restaurant (67:86-89, 93-94). One set of shoeprints displayed the word "Nike" (the Nike shoeprint); the

⁷Dengsavang writes that without Hudson's "testimony on the contents of the shoeprint report, there *were* no shoeprints as far as the jury was concerned" (Dengsavang's br. at 23). That is false. Again, the State could—and did—introduce a mountain of evidence about the shoeprints unrelated to the crime lab report and the court's pretrial order.

other had a pattern involving two circles (the circle shoeprint) (67:88).⁸ Police also saw the circle shoeprint on a door that one of the robbers kicked during the robbery (64:41).

- The shoeprints observed at the rear of the restaurant appeared to be heading northbound toward the nearby Normandy Village apartments where the owners lived (67:94).
- At the owners' address at Normandy Village, police saw the same Nike and circle shoeprints in the fresh snow outside the residence (67:95-96).
- The restaurant owners' young son, who was in the apartment, testified that two masked robbers entered the apartment using his parents' keys and robbed it (64:50-53). The son testified that one burglar had white shoes and the other had red shoes (64:54); he had told police that the burglars wore ski masks, gloves, and had handguns (64:52, 55). When shown Dengsavang's shoes, the son said that they looked like the burglar's red shoes (64:54).
- After police responded to the 911 call from Happy Wok, Officer P. was dispatched to Normandy Village (66:33-34). She found the owners' building, left her squad car, and saw two suspects dressed in black with hooded sweatshirts leaving the building (66:35-36).
- While returning to her squad to attempt to intercept the suspects, Officer P. saw a silver Audi parked next to the building speed out of the parking lot (66:38-40). Suspecting the Audi to be the getaway vehicle, she

⁸To clarify, both Rodthong and Dengsavang wore Nike shoes (65:39), just apparently different models.

initially followed it but returned to the Normandy Village grounds to assist her partner, who was chasing a suspect (66:41).

- When she pulled back into the Normandy Village grounds, Officer P. saw one of the suspects she had seen leaving the owners' building approximately 30 feet from her (66:41-43). While moving toward Officer P., he aimed a gun and fired multiple gunshots at her, one of which struck her above the left hip (66:42-43).
- A witness, Nicholas Tomlin, who was outside his residence across the street from Normandy Village, saw the shooter shoot Officer P., cross the street, and run toward his residence (64:99-101). Nicholas then called his father, James Tomlin, who was inside the residence, to warn him of the shooter (65:7-8).
- James saw the suspect run through his yard and hide behind a neighbor's tree. James kept the perpetrator in view by running from window to window (65:10-11).
- Officers followed the single set of circle shoeprints that the shooter made to the tree near the Tomlins' property, and could see Dengsavang's red shoes sticking out from under the tree (65:31, 34-37). The soles of Dengsavang's shoes featured the same circle pattern as in the circle footprints (65:39).
- Officers seized Dengsavang and found a single black glove where he had been lying (65:54). Officers discovered Dengsavang approximately ten minutes after the shooting (65:45).
- The officers then retraced the circle shoeprints and found, one or two feet off the trail, the matching glove, keys to the owners' apartment, a ski mask, and

a handgun (65:55-57). The ski mask contained Dengsavang's DNA (69:51-52).

- Officers also followed the Nike shoeprints leaving Normandy Village, which eventually led them to an identical ski mask and set of gloves (both of which had Rodthong's DNA), and other evidence that allowed them to find and arrest Rodthong (67:10, 13, 39, 55-60, 81; 69:53-54).
- Officers found an insurance card on Dengsavang that led them to Phonisay's address, where officers found nearly \$1000 in cash, including some old \$20 bills that the Happy Wok owners testified that the robbers had stolen (68:89-92). Officers later found and searched Phonisay's silver Audi, where they found two unusually folded bills that one of the owners stated that the robbers had taken, a glove with Dengsavang's DNA, Rodthong's cell phone, and duct tape matching the tape used in the Happy Wok robbery (68:61-63, 66-67).
- Phone records showed that Dengsavang, Rodthong, and Phonisay were regularly calling each other until 9:29 p.m. on the night of the crimes (69:87-93). The calls stopped until 10:36 p.m., when Dengsavang and Phonisay exchanged multiple calls until 10:44 p.m., shortly before Dengsavang's arrest (69:95-98). Phone records also showed that over the course of the evening, Dengsavang had moved from downtown Milwaukee to the vicinity of the Happy Wok to Normandy Village (69:90-97).

In light of this overwhelming evidence connecting Dengsavang to the crimes, introduction of testimony that the crime lab could not conclusively determine that Dengsavang's shoes made the crime scene shoeprints could not have reasonably affected the outcome of the trial.

D. D'Arruda was not ineffective for failing to object to Detective Hudson's testimony on double hearsay or lay witness grounds.

Dengsavang also claims that D'Arruda was ineffective for failing to object to Detective Hudson's testimony regarding the information from the shoeprint report because her testimony was double hearsay and impermissible lay witness testimony about the report results, given that Hudson did not prepare the report (Dengsavang's br. at 24-29).⁹ The State briefly addresses these arguments in the interest of completeness, but frankly, they are nonsensical.

As an initial matter, it is not clear how those proposed objections would have occurred, given that D'Arruda opened the door to testimony from Hudson about the shoeprint report. Does Dengsavang propose that D'Arruda should have interrupted and objected to his own questioning? If he's arguing that D'Arruda should have objected to the State's redirect on the evidence that D'Arruda introduced, how could those objections be deemed anything but waived? *See, e.g., Simpson v. State,* 83 Wis. 2d 494, 509, 266 N.W.2d 270 (1978) (invoking well-established proposition that an opponent waives objections to testimony unless raised when he or she is reasonably aware of its objectionable nature); *State v. Frizzell,* 64 Wis. 2d 480, 483-84, 219 N.W.2d 390 (1974) (stating that defendant waived objection to the receipt of otherwise excluded evidence that he introduced).

⁹For the reasons described in Part II, *infra*, this court may simply decline to address these claims, given that Dengsavang abandoned them on his initial appeal. As this court noted, Dengsavang only raised a claim of error as to D'Arruda's opening the door to the excluded shoeprint report. All of his other claims, including the double hearsay claim, were abandoned, and his lay witness claim was inadequately briefed (80:8 n.6, 13; R-Ap. 108 n.6, 113).

In any event, Dengsavang cannot demonstrate prejudice based on D'Arruda's failure to object on hearsay or lay testimony grounds in light of the overwhelming evidence of his guilt, as summarized in part C., *supra*.

II. The circuit court properly limited the *Machner* hearing to the only ineffective assistance claim that Dengsavang raised on appeal and that this court identified as requiring the hearing.

Dengsavang also argues that D'Arruda was ineffective for failing to impeach Officer P. about discrepancies between her initial description of the shooter and Dengsavang's actual characteristics (Dengsavang's br. at 29-32), and faults the circuit court for not expanding the scope of the *Machner* hearing to allow him to gather evidence in support of that claim (Dengsavang's br. at 39). But Dengsavang disregards that the circuit court had previously denied this claim without a hearing and that he abandoned it when he did not raise it in his initial appeal to this court.

Given that, any one of several doctrines supports the circuit court's discretion in limiting the *Machner* hearing to the shoeprint report testimony issue.

First, the "law of the case doctrine is a 'longstanding rule that a decision on a legal issue by an appellate court establishes the law of the case, which must be followed in all subsequent proceedings in the trial court or on later appeal." *State v. Stuart*, 2003 WI 73, ¶23, 262 Wis. 2d 620, 664 N.W.2d 82 (cited source omitted). But there are "certain circumstances, when 'cogent, substantial, and proper reasons exist,' under which a court may disregard the doctrine and reconsider prior rulings in a case." *Id.* ¶24 (citation omitted).

For example, "a court should adhere to the law of the case 'unless the evidence on a subsequent trial was substantially different, [or] controlling authority has since made a contrary decision of the law applicable to such issues.'" *Id.* (cited sources omitted). More broadly, "'[i]t is within the power of the courts to disregard the rule of "law of the case" in the interests of justice.'" *Id.* (citing *State v. Brady*, 130 Wis. 2d 443, 447, 388 N.W.2d 151 (1986)).

Here, Dengsavang raised his claim that D'Arruda was ineffective based on the failure to impeach in his original postconviction motion seeking a *Machner* hearing (47:16-19). The circuit court denied the claim without a hearing. In so holding, the circuit court first noted that Officer P.'s initial description was one she had given to another officer after she was shot, in which she said the shooter was a "black male, five eight, or unknown race, all black clothing, hood up, five foot eight, thin" (53:4). During her trial testimony, Officer P. said the shooter was "about five-nine with a slender build, wearing all black clothing at the time" and that she was not able to see the suspect's hair or the color of his skin. Meanwhile, Dengsavang is Asian, five-foot-ten, and weighed 180 pounds at the time of his arrest, and stated that he was not "thin" (53:4).

The court concluded that the discrepancies that Dengsavang complained of were negligible and that, in any event, any failure by D'Arruda to impeach Officer P. did not impact the verdict, given the voluminous evidence supporting Dengsavang's involvement in the crimes:

The defendant asserts that counsel should have impeached Officer [P.] with her prior inconsistent statement. The prior statement was not made by Officer [P.] but another officer. That officer described the shooter as "black male . . . or *unknown race.*" Even if his statement could be imputed to Officer [P.] under a hearsay exception, the court finds no ineffective assistance from counsel's failure to impeach Officer [P.] with it at trial. Given Officer [P.'s] limited opportunity to observe the shooter, the fact that the shooting took place at night, and the fact that the shooter was wearing black clothing, hooded and standing about 30 feet away when he started firing at the officer, it is not surprising that the officer's description did not match on all fours with the defendant's

physical characteristics.⁵ In any case, as the State suggests, there was plenty of compelling circumstantial and physical evidence connecting the defendant to the crime scenes and these crimes. There is no reasonable probability that the jury would have set aside all of that evidence based upon negligible inconsistencies in Officer [P.'s] description of the shooter.

⁵Even so, the officer's description is not that different from the defendant's true physical characteristics. The difference between 5 feet 8 inches and 5 feet 10 inches is not very significant and not necessarily discernible at night at a distance of 30 feet. Moreover, the term "thin" is a subjective term. A person 5 feet 10 inches tall weighing 180 pounds may reasonably be characterized as "thin." Finally, the defendant did have black clothing in his possession. He may have been wearing blue jeans, but that may not have been readily apparent to the office[r] at night while seated in her squad car from a distance of 30 feet.

(53:4-5).

In his initial appeal to this court, Dengsavang did not raise the impeachment claim, and this court noted that it was abandoned (80:8 n.6; R-Ap. 108 n.6). By not raising a claim of error to the court of appeals on this claim, Dengsavang signaled to the State and this court that it did not disagree with the trial court's ruling on it.¹⁰ And by rightly recognizing the claim to be abandoned, this court effectively deemed the circuit court's decision denying relief on the impeachment ground as the final decision on the issue. Hence, this court determined that Dengsavang abandoned the claim and thus was not entitled to relief on it. That is the law of the case, the circuit court was

¹⁰In his brief, Dengsavang asserts that the courts have ignored his many attempts to litigate this claim, writing that "the argument has never been ruled on, at any court level" (Dengsavang's br. at 32). In response, the State directs Dengsavang to the circuit court's original decision expressly denying relief on the claim (53:4-5).

bound to follow it, and Dengsavang presents no "cogent, substantial, and proper reasons" for the circuit court to have allowed Dengsavang to relitigate a claim on which he already obtained an adverse decision.¹¹

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